To Richard T. Breen, Administrative Law Judge
OAH Case #2009020321

August 4, 2009
MOTION FOR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION ON PHC ORDER ISSUE A: 
“Did the District deny Student a free appropriate public education (FAPE) by failing to assess Student and find him eligible for special education pursuant to its “child find” duty from February 10, 2007 through approximately June 1, 2007?” 
For a Motion for Summary Adjudication to succeed, there must be no material issue of fact that might lead to a judge or jury finding in favor of Respondent.  The moving party must assume the non-moving party’s facts, with ambiguities construed in favor of the non-moving party.  Based on these facts, the moving party must prevail as a matter of law.
However, as the US Supreme Court stated in Anderson v Liberty Lobby (1986):

Rule 56(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides that summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

By its very terms, this standard provides that the mere existence of some alleged factual dispute between the parties will not defeat an otherwise properly supported motion for summary judgment; the requirement is that there be no genuine issue of material fact.

As to materiality, the substantive law will identify which facts are material. Only disputes over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law will properly preclude the entry of summary judgment. Factual disputes that are irrelevant or unnecessary will not be counted . . . 

More important for present purposes, summary judgment will not lie if the dispute about a material fact is "genuine," that is, if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party. In First National Bank of Arizona v. Cities Service Co., 391 U. S. 253 (1968), we affirmed a grant of summary judgment for an antitrust defendant where the issue was whether there was a genuine factual dispute as to the existence of a conspiracy. We noted Rule 56(e)'s provision that a party opposing a properly supported motion for summary judgment

"may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but . . . must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial."
Thus to defeat this motion, Respondent must actually set forth specific facts to support his assertion that District performed its Child Find duty from February 10 through May 31, 2007, although as the Court goes on to say, he need not actually prove such facts but only show that there is an issue of fact that might reasonably affect the outcome.  However, if Respondent fails to adduce facts to show possible obedience to Child Find during any subset of the period at issue, say April-May 2007, it won’t suffice to do so elsewhere, because even if he could show that he obeyed Child Find, say, during February and March but not during April and May, he still can’t show that he did his duty.  For the purpose of PHC Order Issue A, Respondent’s duty extended all the way from February 10 through May 31, 2007, and to defeat this Motion for Summary Adjudication, Respondent must adduce some triable facts to show that he perhaps obeyed Child Find for that entire time interval.    
EXHIBITS:  
I, Peter Attwood, state under penalty of perjury according to the laws of the State of California that all Exhibits in this motion are documents yielded to me by the District at various times in response to records requests since April 2007, except for Exhibit 7, which is a letter from social worker Holly Ninneman of San Bernardino Department of Children’s Services written to me in response to our phone conversation.  
Exhibit 1:  Stephen’s report card from fall 2006.  Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 2:  Email memo from Assistant Principal David Nygren to Principal Melody Kohn, dated December 15, 2006.  Produced by District in response to parent records request.
Exhibit 3:  Authorization to Curtis Rouanzoin, dated January 18, 2007, to release or exchange information with District.  Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 4:  Physician’s Statement for Home and Hospital Instruction on District letterhead, dated January 18, 2007.  Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 5:  Attendance statement dated 1/25/2007.  Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 6:  Email memo from Home & Hospital teacher Luis Garcia to Dennis Gideon and Nellie Orozco, dated March 22, 2007.  Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 7:  Letter of social worker Holly Ninneman of San Bernardino County Department of Children’s Services, dated November 30, 2007.  

Exhibit 8:  Memo from Laurel Mullally, Director Health/Child Development, to David Serrano, Risk Management, dated April 4, 2007.  Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 9:  “Mental Health Assessment,” signed by “L Casas RNC” and dated 3/27/07.  Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 10: Memo from Linda Casas to her supervisor, Laurel Mullally, dated April 4, 2007.  Produced by District in response to parent records request. 

I, Peter Attwood, will state the foregoing under penalty of perjury in hearing or in any court of law.
UNCONTESTED FACTS:
1.  District was aware no later than December 2006 that student was in severe academic trouble, working far below his potential 
Stephen’s fall 2006 report card, issued by District, states that he had four Fs and one D, with a Total GPA of 0.20 [Exhibit 1].  We complained in early December of Stephen’s being pressured to write a letter on behalf of “Soldiers Angels” supporting a soldier’s “mission” in Iraq, with the threat of being sent to the Assistant Principal if he wrote anything negative.  Assistant Principal David Nygren “checked his grades, which were very poor,” and “The next week we met with all of the teachers, who all said he was not working up to his potential” [Exhibit 2].

2.  District was aware no later than the end of January 2007 that student had symptoms of severe depression and was refusing to go to school         
On January 18, 2007, on his own letterhead, Psychologist Curtis Rouanzoin gave District an “AUTHORIZATION TO RELEASE OR EXCHANGE INFORMATION” signed by himself, Stephen, and his mother for the purpose of “continuity of care” and for “Consult re: school situation” [Exhibit 3].   The same day, on District letterhead, Rouanzoin gave a “Physician’s Statement” stating that “Stephen Attwood is unable to attend school from 1/22/07 though 6/30/07 due to the following diagnosis  Major Depressive Episode with severe anxiety (debilitating) and possible physiological problems” [Exhibit 4].  The District attendance statement dated 1/25/07 states that out of 65 attendance days, Stephen had 13 absences, 20% [Exhibit 5].

3.  District was aware in early February that Stephen’s school phobia and refusal were a continuing problem 

Home & Hospital teacher Donna Dykstra went to the apartment of Stephen’s mother to instruct him and Stephen went up on the roof, refusing to meet with her.  Dykstra and mother agreed that there was no point in trying school that day, and Dykstra reported this incident to her superiors as a suicidal incident [Exhibit 8-1].
4.  District was aware no later than March 22, 2007 that Stephen’s emotional disturbance was specifically related to abhorrence of school work
On March 22, 2007, Home & Hospital teacher Luis Garcia wrote as follows to Student Support Services Director Dennis Gideon [Exhibit 6]:
I am having an extremely difficult time getting Stephen motivated to do any work.  He barely wants to work when I sit with him.  He is very depressed and is suicidal.  I have already reported a CPS report.  His father was very upset that CPS had payed him a visit.  He confronted me about it.  I made it seem like the district office had ordered it.  It was an uncomfortable situation because he was hinting that he thought it was me.

Stephen bangs his head on the table and with his hands in frustration.  He excuses himself frequently from our dirty work area.  I haven’t been able to make him successful.

I told his dad Peter, I would check with Mr. Gideon for more options for him.   

Dept of Children’s Services found Garcia’s report unfounded on March 14, 2007, and had no further involvement in the matter [Exhibit 7].  
5.  District was aware of its duty to assess for Special Education services on March 22, 2007 and expressed the need to do so on the 27th    

Laurel Mullally wrote in her memo of April 4, 2007 as follows [Exhibit 8]:
On March 22, 2007 I was approached by Dennis Gideon, Student Support Service – Home Hospital ((HH) Director regarding a HH student who is threatening suicide (per HH teacher reported that morning) at the direction of Heather Williams, Special Education Director who was initially sought out. . . [Exhibit 8-1]
It was decided that the school Psychologist would go along for an observation in order to (informally) assess the need for Special education testing . . . [Exhibit 8-2] 
Model the Psychologist was communicating with Dennis Gideon regarding their am suicide assessment (mod/high risk) and the need for special ed assessment. . [Exhibit 8-3]
6.  Instead of offering the Special Education assessment that they were considering, District performed a “Mental Health Assessment” by a school nurse on March 27, 2007, in which the school psychologist, although present, did not participate

District “Mental Health Assessment” [Exhibit 9] was performed and signed by “R Casas RNC” and not by a licensed school psychologist, although he was present.  The district refused to make this report available to me until November 29, 2007.  The report checks “Plan for suicide, Threats of suicide, Thoughts of suicide, Family history” but not “Suicidal gesture, Suicidal attempts, Preoccupation with death.”  It makes no assertion of imminent suicide threat.
“Mental Health Assessment” includes several recommendations, but no recommendation for Special Education assessment for Stephen’s school refusal, which had forced the H &H placement; severe depression; and suicidal tendencies – all of which had already been documented by District - and which were, in the judgment of District, greatly hindering Stephen’s educational progress.  In her memo to her supervisor Laurel Mullally [Exhibit 10], Casas wrote, “States he has thoughts of suicide off and on.  When asked about a plan he stated he would use a knife to cut his throat or jump off the roof.”  These words clearly imply that Stephen was not actually threatening suicide, especially since District states that Stephen offered this suicide plan only when asked for it. [1]
7.  From March 30 through May 31, 2007 – 62 days – District, having ejected Stephen from Home & Hospital and having emphatically stated their full awareness of his disabilities, attempted no contact with Stephen and still did not offer to assess for Special Education
Stephen was released from Canyon Ridge Hospital on March 30, 2007, and was eventually willing to return home in spite of his fear of again being seized and imprisoned by agents of the District.  Nellie Orozco called on April 2, 2007 to tell me that Stephen had to be re-enrolled at Townsend Junior High School, although he was not expected to attend, in view of his having been excused from attendance by his psychologist, Curtis Rouanzoin (Fact 2 above).  District attempted no further contact with us and made no offer to assess for his disabilities until June 1, after the entire months of April and May had passed.            
APPLICABLE LAW:
1.   Child Find requires District to identify, locate, and evaluate all children suspected of being disabled within the meaning of 34 CFR 300.8 (34 CFR 300.11(a)(1)(i) and (c)(1), Section 1412(a)(3)(A))   

As the parties stipulated in Jamie S v Milwaukee Public Schools (2007), “Child Find deals with the identification, location and evaluation of children with suspected disabilities, who may be in need of special education” [emphasis added].  The Child Find obligation exists as soon as the District suspects, or has reason to suspect, that a child has a disability as defined in Section 1401(3)(A)(i).  California Education Code 56300 leaves us in doubt of this, stating in pertinent part: 
A local educational agency shall actively and systematically seek out all individuals with exceptional needs . . . who reside in a school district [emphasis added]

 2.   Qualifying disability within the meaning of Section 1401 includes “Emotional Disturbance” “over a long period of time and to a marked degree that adversely affects a child's educational performance” [2]    
34 CFR 300.8(c)(4)(i) defines “emotional disturbance” as: 

“a condition exhibiting one or more of the following characteristics over a long period of time and to a marked degree that adversely affects a child's educational performance:

(A) An inability to learn that cannot be explained by intellectual, sensory, or health factors.

(B) An inability to build or maintain satisfactory interpersonal relationships with peers and teachers.

(C) Inappropriate types of behavior or feelings under normal circumstances.

(D) A general pervasive mood of unhappiness or depression.

(E) A tendency to develop physical symptoms or fears associated with personal or school problems.”
California EC 48206.3(a)(2) defines a “temporary disability” as follows:
"Temporary disability" means a physical, mental, or emotional disability incurred while a pupil is enrolled in regular day classes or an alternative education program, and after which the pupil can reasonably be expected to return to regular day classes or the alternative education program without special intervention.

It seems clear that the California EC resolves any ambiguity in “over a long period of time” by its definition of “temporary disability.”  If the disability is not temporary, it will presumably persist “without special intervention.”
3.   State law is enforceable under IDEA, and substantive violations of state law constitute denial of FAPE

20 USC Section 1401(9)(B) states that:

The term “free appropriate public education” means special education and related services that meet the standards of the State educational agency. 
Since the State education agency (SEA) exists to implement state education law and to accomplish its purposes, substantive violations of state education law fail to meet the standards of the SEA and so, under Section 1401(9)(B), constitute denial of FAPE.  Moreover, the “standards of the State education agency” require obedience to all other state law in addition to the Education Code, especially in the provision of “related services,” so that, for instance, CDE or any other SEA requires students to be transported by safe drivers with insurance, in conformity with the state Vehicle Code.  Accordingly, we find that abundant and uncontradicted case law holds that "when a state provides for educational benefits exceeding the minimum federal standards set forth under Rowley, the state standards" are enforceable under IDEA (Blackmon, 8th Circuit, 1999), and thus OAH enforces them as a matter of course.
4.   Any and all psychological assessments performed by LEAs must conform to IDEA and state law governing “special education and related services.”  An unlawfully conducted assessment is a procedural violation, and if substantive harm results, it is a denial of FAPE
(a) Psychotherapy and “mental health assessments” by LEAs may be done only by qualified mental health professionals, as law and regulations determine

Psychotherapy and other mental health assessments shall be conducted by qualified mental health professionals as specified in regulations developed by the State Department of Mental Health, in consultation with the State Department of Education, pursuant to this chapter. [Government Code (GC) 7572(c), emphasis added]
(b) Psychological assessments of pupils can be done only by a credentialed school psychologist, not a nurse
Any psychological assessment of pupils shall be made in accordance with Section 56320 and shall be conducted by a credentialed school psychologist who is trained and prepared to assess cultural and ethnic factors appropriate to the pupil being assessed. [EC 56324(a), emphasis added]
. . . individually administered tests of intellectual or emotional functioning shall be administered by a credentialed school psychologist [EC 56320(b)(3), in pertinent part, emphasis added] 
(c) No action can be taken or services provided by a LEA, including mental health assessments and involuntary confinements, except as governed by EC Section 56320 et. seq.
GC 7572 pointedly does not limit this restriction to pupils qualified for Special Education, since it explicitly addresses pupils with suspected disabilities, and therefore not yet confirmed (GC 7570).  California law clearly intends to keep LEAs out of the practice of delivering mental health services to any student, except in the specific circumstances of evaluations related to special education services, which are to be done in strict conformity to IDEA and related state law – only by credentialed school psychologists.
A child shall be assessed in all areas related to the suspected disability by those qualified to make a determination of the child's need for the service before any action is taken with respect to the provision of related services or designated instruction and services to a child, including, but not limited to, services in the areas of, occupational therapy, physical therapy, psychotherapy, and other mental health assessments.  All assessments required or conducted pursuant to this section shall be governed by the assessment procedures contained in Article 2 (commencing with Section 56320) of Chapter 4 of Part 30 of the Education Code.  [GC 7572(a), emphasis added]
(d)  No “mental health assessment” or any other evaluation may be administered to any pupil without the informed written consent of his parent or guardian
A pupil may not be tested for a behavioral, mental, or emotional evaluation without the informed written consent of his or her parent or guardian [EC 49091.12(c)].

APPLICATION:
1.  Refusal to offer evaluation as required by Child Find through the end of March 2007  
By about February 10, 2007, District had been on notice since no later than December 2006 that Stephen was in severe academic trouble, having stated that he was working far below his potential, that his grades were “very poor” – four Fs and one D according to their report card – and that he had been absent 1 out of every 5 days over a period of well over two months.  District was also aware of Stephen’s school refusal – first, in having absolutely refused to go to school anymore at all in mid-January, so that his psychologist had excused him from attendance through June 30, 2007; and second, in having gone up on the roof rather than participate in Home & Hospital instruction.  Finally, District complained of continued school refusal in Home & Hospital in March, 2007, so that the H & H teacher despaired of being able to get Stephen to work at all [Exhibit 6].
District documentation makes it clear that by March 22 2007, District not only suspected but was fully convinced that Stephen was, to a marked degree, displaying the following attributes of emotional disturbance delineated in 34 CFR 300.8(c)(4)(i), and with his educational performance being most adversely affected – indeed rendered close to non-existent:

(A) An inability to learn that cannot be explained by intellectual, sensory, or health factors [Exhibit 1].

(C) Inappropriate types of behavior or feelings under normal circumstances [Exhibit 6].

(D) A general pervasive mood of unhappiness or depression [Exhibit 6].

(E) A tendency to develop physical symptoms or fears associated with personal or school problems [Exhibit 6].
That’s four out of five; the federal regulation makes the call on “one or more.”

Instead of obeying its Child Find duty to identify, locate, and evaluate Stephen, whose “emotional disturbance” could scarcely have been more in their face, District – according to its own paperwork [Exhibit 8-2] – on March 22, 2007 considered offering to assess Stephen in accordance with the law and decided not to do so.

2.  The District “Mental Health Assessment” of March 27, 2007 [Exhibit 10]    
The District “Mental Health Assessment” was performed on March 27, 2007, in place of the assessment for special education that Dr. Heather Williams, Special Education Director, decided on March 22, 2007 not to offer, having made this decision in consultation with Laurel Mullally and other District senior staff.  It violated the law in at least the following ways:

a)  It was performed by an unqualified school nurse instead of by a credentialed school psychologist [EC 56324(a)]

b)  The “mental health assessment” was not performed by a qualified mental health professional as specified in regulations [GC 7572(c)]   

c)  Action was taken, to wit traumatizing abduction and forcible confinement, without assessment in all areas of suspected disability, in violation of EC 56320 et seq.  [GC 7572(a)]
d)  No informed written consent was obtained from parent, as required for any behavioral, mental, or emotional evaluation of any pupil [EC 49091.12(c), EC 51101(a)(13)]
All of this was easily avoidable.  If they had really thought a suicide assessment was required, they could have brought a qualified person from CCRT to do the assessment, instead of having it done by an unqualified nurse while a credentialed school psychologist sat idly by.
The cause of these multiple violations of the law is not really that any of the personnel involved were unaware of these particular statutes.  A safe California driver will generally stay out of trouble in Saskatchewan without knowing a word of the Province Vehicle Code.  If I drive there and get into a serious accident in which I am charged with four serious Vehicle Code violations, it won’t be because I’m not a Canadian and failed to read the Code.  It will be because I chose to drive in a way that would have been reckless anywhere.  
That is what happened in this case, subjecting Stephen to a terrifying and traumatic experience of false imprisonment in violation of several provisions of the Education and Government Codes - thus depriving us of “the opportunity to have a safe school environment for their child that is safe and supportive of learning” [EC 51101(a)(7)], and thus denying him FAPE.
3.  District’s continued refusal to assess: March 27 through May 31, 2007 
District states that its first offer to assess Stephen for special education was made on June 1, 2007.  Hence District acknowledges that, having considered the option of offering to assess Stephen for his disabilities on March 22, 2007 and again on March 27, 2007 [Exhibit 8-2], District completely ignored Stephen for another 62 days until June 1, 2007 while he stayed at home, being offered no special education assessment for his disabilities during those 9 weeks as required by federal and state education law.
CONCLUSION:

The documents produced by District prove District’s early and ongoing awareness of the need to assess Stephen for severe emotional disturbance.  District documented the adverse educational effect on Stephen’s educational performance of his emotional disturbance:  four Fs and a D in December 2006; 13 out of 65 days absent through January 25, 2007; going up on the roof to avoid his H & H appointment in February 2007; and dramatic further decline in March.  
According to District’s own documents, none of these events moved District to obey its Child Find duty through the end of March 2007.  That option was considered and rejected on March 22, 2007 in favor of an unlawful act whose consequences vindicated the wisdom of the considerable body of legislation which District chose to flout.  Finally, District states that it first offered to assess Stephen in accordance with its Child Find duty on June 1, 2007, thereby stipulating that it completely ignored Stephen throughout the months of April and May, 2007 - over those 9 weeks, being unmoved by his now completely obvious emotional disturbance to make any offer to assess him for Special Education.
Throughout this period, Stephen was denied the opportunity to be assessed for appropriate services that might have averted the collapse of his academic functioning that occurred during this time interval, certainly a substantive denial of FAPE.  Through its illegal conduct, District actually aggravated the problem, depriving Stephen of his needed sense of personal safety in violation of EC 51101(a)(7).  

Based on District’s documents and the law, Petitioner should be granted summary adjudication that District denied Stephen FAPE from February 10 through May 31, 2007 (PHC Order Issue A) by violating its Child Find duty to offer Stephen an assessment for special education in all areas of suspected disability, “administered by trained and knowledgeable personnel.”
Peter Attwood

c:  Jack Clarke, Best Best Krieger on behalf of CVUSD – by fax at 951-686-3083
    Wayne Joseph, Interim Supt, and board members – by fax to 909-548-4911
     Kimberlee Rosa, San Bernardino County Behavioral Health – by fax at 909-421-9258
1.   Officer Alejandro Barrero of the San Bernardino Sheriffs will testify and produce documentation that Casas reported to the officer, in contrast to her report and memo to Mullally, that Stephen was threatening to kill himself with a knife.  The hospital documentation also states that Stephen told “school officials” that he was threatening to kill himself and hurt others.  Cynthia White of Children’s Crisis Response Team (CCRT) will testify that contrary to the assertion of Casas in her report and in her memo to Mullally, White did not support this action, and indeed that CCRT never even opened a case in the matter.  However, since Respondent may dispute these facts until the testimony is provided at the hearing, I do not rely on them in this motion.     
2.  The Utah SEA has a very clear and helpful document defining the terms that describe “emotional disturbance” at http://www.schools.utah.gov/sars/servicesinfo/pdfs/05emdist.pdf   
Exhibit 1:  

Stephen’s report card from fall 2006.  

Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 2:  

Email memo from Assistant Principal David Nygren to Principal Melody Kohn, dated December 15, 2006.  

Produced by District in response to parent records request.
Exhibit 3:  

Authorization of Curtis Rouanzoin, dated January 18, 2007, to release or exchange information with District.  

Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 4:  

Physician’s Statement for Home and Hospital Instruction on District letterhead, dated January 18, 2007.  

Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 5:  

Attendance statement dated 1/25/2007.  

Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 6:  

Email memo from Home & Hospital teacher Luis Garcia to Dennis Gideon and Nellie Orozco, dated March 22, 2007.  

Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 7:  
Letter of social worker Holly Ninneman of San Bernardino County Department of Children’s Services, dated November 30, 2007.  

Exhibit 8:  
Memo from Laurel Mullally, Director Health/Child Development, to David Serrano, Risk Management, dated April 4, 2007.  
Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 9:  
“Mental Health Assessment,” signed by “L Casas RNC” and dated 3/27/07.  
Produced by District in response to parent records request.

Exhibit 10: 
Memo from Linda Casas to her supervisor, Laurel Mullally, dated April 4, 2007.  
Produced by District in response to parent records request.
